

Sense of Competence in Informal Caregivers of People with Dementia: Effects on Depression and Anxiety

Elisa Caroline Latos

Student Nr: 2106750

School of Social and Behavioral Sciences (TSB), Tilburg University

Master's program: Cognitive Neuropsychology

Supervisor: Dr. Ruth Mark

Second Assessor: Dr. Andrew Reid

Tilburg, 23.06.2023

Word count: 9372

Abstract

Most dementia patients are cared for at home for several years by a partner or adult child without professional training in caregiving. The current study explored whether the sense of competence in informal caregivers of a person with dementia was predictive of depression and anxiety they experience. Participants included 183 informal caregivers of a person with dementia who completed the Short Sense of Competence Questionnaire (SSCO, Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1999) and the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS, Spinhoven et al., 1997). They provided care for at least 8 hours per week and were relatives, spouses, or friends of a person with dementia who lived at home. The participants were split into three groups of low, moderate, and high Sense of Competence, based on their SSCQ results. A one-way MANOVA revealed a significant main effect of the caregivers' Sense of Competence on Anxiety and Depression (p < .001). Caregivers with a higher Sense of Competence experienced lower levels of Anxiety (p < .001) and Depression (p < .001). In comparison, a lower Sense of Competence was linked to higher levels of Anxiety and Depression. Exploratory analysis revealed a connection between higher caregiver age, less education, partner relationship status, and cohabitation with the care receiver to a lower sense of competence. Overall, the results underline the importance of detecting and enhancing low informal caregiver competence to alleviate anxiety and depression and improve caregiver well-being.

Keywords: anxiety, competence, depression, informal caregiver

Contents

Sense of Competence in Informal Caregivers of People with Dementia: Effects on Depr	ression
and Anxiety	4
Research Question	9
Hypotheses	9
Methods	9
Participants	9
Ethical Concerns and Approval	10
Measures	11
Procedure	12
Statistical Analysis	13
Power Analysis	16
Results	16
Caregiver and Care Receiver Characteristics	16
Investigating Sense of Competence with Anxiety and Depression	19
Exploring Connections: Effects of Demographic Variables	21
Discussion	24
Conclusion	31
References	32
Appendix A. Histogram of the Hours of Care per Week of the Total Sample	43

List of Figures

Figure 1: Flowchart of the Participants Recruited and Included in the Analysis	11
Figure 2: Mean Scores of Anxiety and Depression in the Three Levels of Sense of	
Competence	21
1	

List of Tables

Table 1: Descriptive Statistics Regarding Sociodemographic Caregiver and Care Receiver	
Characteristics	18
Table 2: Statistics Regarding Questionnaire Data	20

Sense of Competence in Informal Caregivers of People with Dementia: Effects on Depression and Anxiety

The number of people diagnosed with dementia worldwide is growing fast (Alary et al., 2017). About 35.6 million individuals were diagnosed with dementia in 2010. Estimations suggest this number will double every 20 years (Wimo et al., 2013). Aging is the number one risk factor for developing dementia, and since we live to a higher age on average, dealing with dementia is an imperative and inevitable problem in our modern society (Alary et al., 2017; Roser et al., 2013). There is an urgent need to know how and why dementia develops in some but not all humans (i.e., Bondi et al., 2017) to prevent this degenerative process as long and effectively as possible but also to research the health of everybody involved to ensure the best quality of life (Alary et al., 2017).

The majority of people living with dementia are being cared for by a relative or a friend at home (Gauthier et al., 2022; Prince et al., 2015; Schulz & Martire, 2004). A meta-analysis showed that most of these so-called informal caregivers are spouses (60%), followed by adult children (39%) (Pinquart & Sörensen, 2006). Informal caregivers provide care to someone with dementia. They are typically unpaid and have a personal relationship with the care receiver (National Research Council, 2010). On the other hand, professional caregivers have received special education in caring for people with dementia or other diseases and are paid (Seidel & Thyrian, 2019). Informal caregivers experience less social care and personal support compared to professional caregivers, resulting in higher psychological strain and lower quality of life (Takahashi et al., 2005). Caregiver burden (CB) is a widely used term to measure the adverse effects of caregiving on the caregiver. CB is the multifaceted strain experienced over time by the informal caregiver (Liu et al., 2020). It combines perceived physical, psychological, social, and financial difficulties (George & Gwyther, 1986). Various care receiver and caregiver characteristics are associated with CB: Behavioral problems, including neuropsychiatric symptoms of the care receiver as well as caregiver competence, coping skills, and personality traits are the most consistent determinants of CB (van den Kieboom et al., 2020; van der Lee et al., 2014). Surprisingly, severity of dementia does not predict CB (Branger et al., 2018), but it is instead associated with problematic behaviors of people with dementia, often resulting in safety issues and high functional dependency (Allen et al., 2019; Branger et al., 2018; Chiao et al., 2015; Liu et al., 2017; Ornstein & Gaugler, 2012).

Dementias are chronic and progressive illnesses with unpredictable medical courses. The average time from diagnosis until death is four to eight years (Brookmeyer et al., 2002). Taking care of an older person with dementia takes more time than providing care for a person with other ailments (Kasper et al., 2015), and the time spent taking care of the person with dementia increases from the first diagnosis until eight years post-diagnosis from an estimated 151 hours per month to 283 hours per month (Jutkowitz et al., 2020). These numbers show that, on average, an unpaid informal caregiver provides care for 35-63 hours a week (McDaid, 2001; Wimo et al., 2013). It is essential to determine the impact of these informal care arrangements on caregivers' well-being and explore measures to mitigate the potential decline in their health and psychological well-being (Chiao et al., 2015). This understanding will help minimize individual and societal costs associated with caregiving. Research indicates that we should help people with dementia as well as their caregivers to benefit everyone involved (Karlsson et al., 2015), which means that in addition to research on prevention, identification, and reduction of dementia risk (Shah et al., 2016), more research on the caregivers as well as the interactive and highly connected relationship between care receiver and caregiver is necessary. Understanding the effects of caregiving on informal caregivers could be an opportunity to modify dementia care early on during the progressive illness of dementia (Pot & Petrea, 2013).

CB is an important predictor of depression and anxiety in informal caregivers (Liu et al., 2017). 32% of informal caregivers of people with dementia reported clinically significant levels of depression (Covinsky et al., 2003), and 25% of caregivers have anxiety, which is higher than in non-caregivers (Mausbach et al., 2013). Depression in caregivers is most likely influenced by multiple interactive risk factors and not by one main problem (Covinsky et al., 2003). Several risk factors are associated with the care receiver: Disruptive behaviors, especially if aggression, rejection of care, and agitation appear in combination, affect caregiver depression negatively (Choi et al., 2019). Declining instrumental Activities of daily living (ADL) and higher severity of delusions but not decreasing cognitive function predict caregiver depression (Hasegawa et al., 2014). Specific care receiver characteristics are also associated with a higher risk for caregiver depression: younger age, male gender, White/Hispanic, less education, ADL dependence, incontinence, and a lower Mini-Mental-Status-Examination score (Covinsky et al., 2003). On the other hand, certain caregiver characteristics are also associated with a higher risk for caregiver depression: higher age, female gender, low income, spousal relationship to and living with the person with dementia, less education, more caregiving hours, and less physical function (Covinsky et al., 2003; Jütten, 2019). Depression is associated with cognitive deficits (Pan et al., 2019) and a decline in psychosocial and physical health (Cassano & Fava, 2002). Depressive symptoms in caregivers of people with dementia predict an increased decrease in health compared to caregivers with no depressive symptomatology (O'Rourke et al., 2007).

Despite anxiety in older people and especially caregivers being common (Kaddour & Kishita, 2020), late-life anxiety in general (Chong et al., 2020), as well as in caregivers of people with dementia (Cooper et al., 2007), has not been a focus of research so far. Anxiety has adverse long-term effects on health and is associated with increased disability, poorer quality of life, and cognitive impairment (Kaddour & Kishita, 2020). Higher anxiety is also associated with higher

CB and lower physical health in caregivers (Cooper et al., 2007). Despite these prominent effects, it is often underestimated in older adults (Bower et al., 2015). Mahoney et al. (2005) identified predictors of anxiety in caregivers of people with dementia, including poorer relationship quality with the care receiver, cohabiting with the care receiver, and ADL impairment.

Another predictor of caregiver depression and anxiety is caregiver competence or perceived sense of competence. The definition of competence is different across research fields and disciplines (Jung et al., 2022). The sense of competence in caregivers is the subjectively perceived adequacy and performance as a caregiver, and all positive and negative caregiving factors influence this (Chan et al., 2018). These factors include caregiver and care receiver demographics, self-efficacy and coping strategies of the caregiver, problematic behavior and severity of dementia in the care receiver, relationship status, as well as finding meaning and experiencing gratitude (Stansfeld et al., 2019). Lower caregiver competence is associated with being female and having a spousal relationship with the care receiver (Stansfeld et al., 2019). Caregiver competence is a consistent predictor of CB, depression, and mental health, with higher competence being beneficial in reducing the burden and depression of caregivers and also improving mental health (Gilhooly et al., 2016). Lower caregiving competence, on the other hand, predicts caregiver depression (Stansfeld et al., 2019; Ying et al., 2018). The strength of this correlation varies over studies. A small but significant negative correlation was found between competence and depression, indicating that higher depressive symptoms in caregivers are associated with a lower sense of competence (Lau & Cheng, 2017). In line with the previous research results, a better understanding of dementia and the related needs of people with dementia is associated with less depression and burden in caregivers (Lau & Cheng, 2017). In addition, caregivers with high understanding are less bothered by problematic behavior (Hepburn et al., 2001), which is strongly associated with caregiver depression (Choi et al., 2019; Covinsky et al.,

2003). This higher general knowledge about dementia also positively affects the caregiver's feelings and coping ability, resulting in less psychological stress and fewer negative feelings (Birkenhäger-Gillesse et al., 2018). A possible explanation for this correlation is that higher competence improves the ability to manage behavioral symptoms of dementia better (Jung et al., 2022), which in turn should reduce CB, depression, and anxiety (Covinsky et al., 2003; Ying et al., 2018). The association between competence and anxiety in caregivers is less clear. Anxiety is associated with CB and lower health in caregivers, but the evidence on competence is sporadic and inconsistent (Cooper et al., 2007). Proctor et al. (2002) showed that too little knowledge, limited to biomedical facts about dementia rather than including expertise about caring for and coping with a person with dementia, was associated with greater anxiety. On the other hand, feeling useful, appreciated, and satisfied with caregiving as part of the perceived sense of competence in caregivers is associated with less anxiety (Roff et al., 2004).

Looking into the connection of the caregiver's sense of competence to the severity of depression and anxiety is an essential aspect of understanding CB and, in the long run, developing interventions to improve the well-being of everyone involved in dementia care. The broad picture of current research on caregiver competence, depression, and anxiety is that higher caregiver competence is related to better management of behavioral problems and symptoms of dementia (Jung et al., 2022), reduces caregiver depression (Covinsky et al., 2003; Ying et al., 2018), and possibly also anxiety (Mahoney et al., 2005). Can this association be replicated, and is a higher sense of competence in informal caregivers associated with lower depression? And can this additionally be shown for anxiety? This study focuses on the association of competence, depression, and anxiety in a large group of informal caregivers. For this purpose, this present study assessed competence with a questionnaire specifically designed to measure perceived competence in informal caregivers of a person with dementia measuring satisfaction with

SENSE OF COMPETENCE IN INFORMAL CAREGIVERS

caregiving and the consequences of caregiving for the personal life of the caregiver rather than knowledge about dementia (SSCQ, Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1999; Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1996). The goal is to gain insight into perceived competence as a possible modifiable predictor for depression and anxiety. If this is the case, future interventions should focus on improving low perceived competence to avoid adverse long-term effects on caregivers' well-being.

Research Question

Does a higher sense of competence predict lower levels of depression and anxiety in informal caregivers of people with dementia?

Hypotheses

A higher sense of competence is predictive of a lower level of anxiety and depression in caregivers of people with dementia.

A lower sense of competence is predictive of a higher level of anxiety and depression in caregivers of people with dementia.

Demographic caregiver characteristics, such as age, relationship with the care receiver, hours of care per week, and gender, may influence the sense of competence, anxiety, and depression in caregivers of people with dementia.

Methods

Participants

Participants were informal caregivers of a person with dementia. They were relatives, spouses, or friends of the care receiver. This study used the dataset of a more extensive longitudinal quasi-experimental study focused on pre-post measurements and evaluating the effectiveness of the "Into D'mentia" simulator training (Jütten et al., 2017). The focus of this present study was comparing baseline levels of variables. The baseline data of both groups was investigated before any intervention was conducted. The recruitment of participants for the intervention group started in July 2014, with 192 participants screened for eligibility. Among them, 47 were excluded due to not meeting the inclusion criteria (see Figure 1). The intervention group comprised 145 caregivers. For the control group, recruitment started in May 2015 and concluded in January 2017 (Jütten et al., 2017). The screening was performed on 75 participants and resulted in the exclusion of 6 for not meeting the inclusion criteria. Additionally, 13 participants declined to participate after receiving study information. Consequently, the control group consisted of 56 participants. Over both conditions, a total number of 201 participants (N =201) was included in the baseline measurement relevant to this study. Recruitment, inclusion, and exclusion criteria were the same for both groups. There was no randomization of participants since the groups were recruited consecutively. The inclusion criteria of this study entailed that the caregiver had to be a spouse, relative, or friend of the care receiver, with a minimum of 8 hours of caregiving per week. The care receiver was not institutionalized, and the caregiver had to be at least 18 years old with no upper limit. Exclusion criteria defined that caregivers with physical disabilities preventing them from entering the simulator, communication disabilities (e.g., deafness), or insufficient understanding of the Dutch language that ruled out sufficient understanding of the simulator, were not allowed to participate. Additionally, caregivers with self-reported psychological or medical disabilities that made the simulator too confusing (e.g., self-reported dementia) were excluded.

Ethical Concerns and Approval

This paper is based on a study that adhered to the Declaration of Helsinki guidelines for clinical studies. The protocol was approved by the local ethics committees of the Tilburg School of Social and Behavioral Sciences, Tilburg University, and De Wever in Tilburg, the Netherlands, on December 1, 2015 (Jütten et al., 2017). The study was registered by The Dutch Trial Register (NTR) number: NTR5856. The start of the study (July 2014) and the registry date (December 2015) don't match due to uncertainty regarding the continuance of the study due to the early and limited availability of the simulator and a lack of funding. The non-invasive study imposed no risk on the participating caregivers or the care receivers.

Measures

Questionnaire - Depression and Anxiety. Levels of *Depression* and *Anxiety* were measured with the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) (Spinhoven et al., 1997). It consists of seven statements, each regarding anxiety and depression within the week before the measurement, rated on a 4-point scale ranging from 0 to 3. The scores are added up within the subscales, and the cut-off of 8 is used as an indicator for anxiety or depressive complaints (0-7 = no or minimal symptoms, 8-10 = mild symptoms, 11-14 = moderate symptoms, 15-21 = severe symptoms). Scores range from 0 to 21 for each subscale, respectively. In different studies, Cronbach's alpha for the anxiety and depression subscale range from 0.76 to 0.93 and 0.72 to 0.90, respectively (Van Beljouw & Verhaak, 2010).

Figure 1.



Flowchart of the Participants Recruited and Included in the Analysis.

Questionnaire – Sense of Competence. Perceived *Sense of Competence* was measured with the Short Sense of Competence Questionnaire (Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1999). The seven items, rated on a 5-point Likert scale (1-5), consist of three domains: satisfaction with the person with dementia as a recipient of care, satisfaction with one's performance as a caregiver, and consequences of involvement in care for the personal life of the caregiver (Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1996). Possible scores range from 0 to 35, with higher scores indicating a greater sense of competence (7-21 = low sense of competence, 22-28 = moderate sense of competence, 29-35 high sense of competence). Cronbach's alpha is 0.76 (Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1999).

Procedure

This thesis is based on a longitudinal and quasi-experimental study with two groups (see Jütten et al. (2017) for the protocol). Participant recruitment started in 2014, and the final measurements took place in 2018. Recruitment was conducted in several organizations for elderly care and management (de Wever in Tilburg, the Netherlands; elderly federations; Alzheimer Nederland; case managers; centers for daytime activities for people with dementia and social media). The recruitment and scheduling process started with providing oral or written information about the study and scheduling the first appointment with interested parties. All participants gave their written consent. The measurement consisted of a semi-structured interview and a questionnaire packet. The investigated outcomes, *Anxiety* and *Depression*, and the caregiver's *Sense of Competence (SoC)* were measured with questionnaires. The interview was standardized and conducted by trained neuropsychologists, while the participants completed the questionnaires at home before the interview appointment. This process and the questionnaires were identical for both groups, except additional questions regarding the simulator were left out in the control group.

Statistical Analysis

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 29. This study used data from the baseline measurement of both the intervention and control group since this assured the maximum amount of data available (N = 201), and the hypotheses do not regard pre- and post-measurements of the intervention or a comparison between the intervention and control group. A previous study by Jütten et al. (2018) has shown no significant differences between the control and intervention groups in the primary outcomes of competence, depression, and anxiety complaint at the baseline measurement. For this reason, the analysis included data from both groups. The data (N = 201) was checked for missing values, outliers, and statistical assumptions before analysis. Upon inspection of a boxplot, the identified outliers were deemed within the possible range of values and not considered extreme. Specifically, they were not greater than 1.5 box lengths from the edge of the box. Consequently, they were deemed suitable for inclusion in the analysis. Participants with missing values in the SSCQ or HADS were excluded from the analyses, resulting in a total number of 183 participants (n = 183) included in statistical analyses.

Descriptive statistics of participant characteristics of the caregivers and care receivers include all demographic variables measured at baseline. Additionally, all baseline scores on the independent variable and outcome questionnaires were analyzed.

The independent variable in this study is the *SoC* with three levels: *low SoC*, *moderate SoC*, and *high SoC*. To enable statistical analysis of the relationship between the independent variable and the outcome variables in a one-way MANOVA, the independent variable *SoC* was divided into three groups. Specifically, the original metric variable was converted into categories based on commonly used cut-offs for the SSCQ in the literature. Total scores of 7 to 21 points in the SSCQ were defined as a *low level of SoC* (coded 1), scores of 22 to 28 were defined as a *moderate level of SoC* (coded 2), and scores of 29 to the maximum of 35 were defined as a *high* *level of SoC* (coded 3). This split resulted in unequal group sizes of 35 (19.1%), 74 (40.4%), and 74 (40.4%), respectively. A contextual split, based on the participants' results in the SSCQ questionnaire, was chosen instead of a division based on distribution to better support the generalization of the results to other populations. Generalizability of results based on sample-specific criteria is limited due to variation of distribution in populations (DeCoster et al., 2011). Uneven group sizes when conducting a one-way MANOVA can result in a loss of power, limiting the ability to detect small effects. But all group sizes were greater than the number of dependent variables investigated (Stevens, 2012), fulfilling the sample size assumption of the MANOVA. Therefore, the one-way MANOVA was computed accepting the loss of power and using the interpretation of Pillai's Trace instead of Wilk's Lambda due to higher robustness given the unequal sample sizes (Ateş et al., 2019).

Preliminary Spearman correlation analyses for the total sample (n = 183) were conducted to examine the relationship between *SoC* and *Anxiety*, *SoC* and *Depression*, and *Anxiety* and *Depression* before investigating different levels of *SoC*. The means and standard deviations for *SoC* were 26.23 and 5.40, for *Anxiety* 6.66 and 4.07, and for *Depression* 4.87 and 3.99, respectively. The results of the Spearman correlation analysis revealed significant negative correlations between *SoC* and *Anxiety*, $\rho = -.48$, p < .001, and *SoC* and *Depression*, $\rho = -.44$, p < .001, indicating that as *SoC* increases, *Anxiety* and *Depression* decrease. The correlation coefficient suggests a moderate relationship between the variables. Furthermore, a strong positive correlation ($\rho = .69$, p < .001) was observed between Anxiety and Depression, suggesting that an increase in Anxiety is accompanied by a corresponding increase in Depression and vice versa.

A one-way MANOVA was performed to examine the effects of *SoC* (independent variable) on *Anxiety* and *Depression* (dependent variables). Post hoc univariate ANOVAs were conducted to investigate the significant effects of *SoC* on *Anxiety* and *Depression*, to answer the

hypotheses of this study. Tukey-Kramer post hoc analyses for all significant ANOVA results were performed to explore which *SoC* groups differed in the dependent variable.

Statistical assumptions were tested before conducting the one-way MANOVA to ensure valid and reliable results. The dependent variables, namely Anxiety, and Depression, were measured on a continuous level using the HADS subscale sums. The equivalent distance between ratings justified using a MANOVA for higher power instead of a non-parametrical test. The independent variable SoC consisted of three categorical groups, and all observations were independent. In the data, two univariate outliers were identified through boxplot inspection. However, these were not excluded as they appeared to be genuine values rather than measurement or data entry errors. Furthermore, they did not exceed 1.5 box lengths from the box's edge. The data had no multivariate outliers, as determined by Mahalanobis distance (p > .001). The normality assumption was violated in some combinations of the SoC level and dependent variables, except for the HADS depression subscale in group 1 (Shapiro-Wilk test, p > .05). Despite the violation of the normality assumption, the analysis proceeded based on the large sample size and the robustness of MANOVA in handling deviations from normality (Stevens, 2012). Moderate multicollinearity was observed, as assessed by Pearson correlation (r = .644, p < .001). If outcome variables are uncorrelated or too strongly correlated, it can diminish the power of MANOVA power in controlling a Type I error, indicating the need for using univariate statistical tests instead (Finch & French, 2013). However, the present correlation was below the commonly recommended threshold of .90 (Grice & Iwasaki, 2008), justifying the use of the one-way MANOVA. A linear relationship between Anxiety and Depression scores was evident in the *moderate* and *high* categories of SoC, as observed from the scatterplot. However, the low SoC category did not exhibit a clear linear relationship. Although this violated the linearity assumption in one of the groups, the MANOVA was conducted, acknowledging the

potential limitation on generalizability to populations where linearity conditions hold true (Stevens, 2012). Finally, Box's test of equality of covariance matrices supported homogeneity of variance-covariances matrices (p = .009), and Levene's Test of Homogeneity of Variance confirmed the homogeneity of variances (p > .05).

In addition to investigating the confirmatory hypotheses, the study conducted exploratory analyses to examine the relationship between caregiver demographic variables and the independent variable groups. A one-way ANOVA was performed to investigate possible differences between *SoC* groups for normally distributed continuous variables. Non-normally distributed continuous variables were analyzed using Kruskal-Wallis tests, while categorical variables were assessed using Pearson Chi-square tests. Exploratory Pearson correlations were used to explore the connection between *SoC*, *Anxiety*, and *Depression* with continuous variables. The study examined the relationship between these three variables and multinominal variables through one-way ANOVAs, while dichotomous categorical variables were analyzed using t-tests.

Power Analysis

A post hoc power analysis was conducted using G*Power 3.1.9.7 (Faul et al., 2007) to determine the achieved power of the one-way MANOVA with a 0.05 alpha level, an effect size of 0.15, and a sample size of 183. This study conducted a MANOVA on two dependent variables with an independent variable with three groups. The analysis revealed that the achieved power was 0.99, indicating a high probability of detecting small- to medium-sized effects.

Results

Caregiver and Care Receiver Characteristics

All statistical analyses were performed using IBM SPSS Statistics 29. Caregiver and receiver characteristics were analyzed for the total sample and the three separate SoC groups (see Table 1). Appropriate tests were conducted to detect possible significant differences between the

three SoC levels. The mean age of the total sample was 59 (SD = 11.9) years. It decreased from the low (64.7 \pm 9.9) to moderate (61.5 \pm 12.1) to high (58.1 \pm 11.8) SoC level. There was a significant difference among the levels of SoC, F(2, 178) = 4.051, p = .019, with a small effect size of $\eta^2 = .044$. The effect size partial eta squared (η^2) is interpreted as a small effect within the range of .01 to .05, as a medium effect from .06 to .13, and as large equal to or above .14 (Cohen, 1988). Most caregivers were female (79.8% total, 77.1% in group 1, 79.7% in group 2, 81.1% in group 3), had an active occupation (66.7% total, 60% in group 1, 63.5% in group 2, 73% in group 3) and had provided care for several years at the time of the interview (total = 3.9 ± 3.2 , group 1 = 3.9 ± 2.8 , group $2 = 4.2\pm3.5$, group $3 = 3.5\pm3.1$). The groups did not differ on these demographic variables. Most caregivers of the total sample had a medium or high level of education (15.3% low, 36.1% medium, 48.6% high). Both the moderate and high SoC groups showed this distribution pattern (see Table 2), while the low SoC group did not (28.6% low, 40% medium, 31.4% high), indicating a higher frequency of low education than high in this group. This difference between the SoC groups was significant, $\gamma^2(2) = 8.963$, p = .011. The number of weekly caregiving hours also differed significantly among the SoC groups ($\gamma^2(2) = 24.406$, p < .001), with the *low* group reporting the most hours and the *high* group the least (total = 56.3 ± 62.87 , group $1 = 84.0 \pm 64.9$, group $2 = 66.9 \pm 65.3$, group $3 = 32.5 \pm 50.6$). Moreover, the type of relationship with the care receiver showed significant differences, $\chi^2(8) = 29.478$, p < .001. Visual inspection suggests fewer spouses/partners (62.9% in group 1, 52.1% in group 2, 20.3% in group 3) but more adult children (28.6% in group 1, 35.6% in group 2, 60.8% in group 3) in group 3 than 1 and 2. Cohabiting with the care receiver also differed significantly, $\gamma^2(2) = 24.130$, p < .001, with less cohabitation in the high SoC group than in moderate and low (58.8% in group 1, 53.4% in group 2, 18.9% in group 3).

Table 1

	Total N	low SoC	moderate SoC	high SoC	Test value ^a	<i>p</i> -value
	(<i>N</i> = 183)	(<i>n</i> = 35)	(<i>n</i> = 74)	(n = 74)		•
Participant/Caregiver characteristics	N = 183	n1 = 35	n2 = 74	n3 = 74		
Age in years	60.7±11.8	64.7 ± 9.9	61.5±12.1	58.1±11.8	4.05	.019*
Male sex	37 (20.2%)	8 (22.9%)	15 (20.3%)	14 (18.9%)	0.23	.892
Level of education ^b						
Low	28 (15.3%)	10 (28.6%)	11 (14.9%)	7 (9.5%)	8.963	.011*
Medium	66 (36.1%)	14 (40%)	28 (37.8%)	24 (32.4%)		
High	89 (48.6%)	11 (31.4%)	35 (47.3%)	43 (58.1%)		
Years of caregiving	3.9±3.2	3.9 ± 2.8	4.2±3.5	3.5 ± 3.1	3.54	.171
Hours of care per week	56.3±62.87	84.0±64.9	66.9±65.3	32.5 ± 50.6	25.41	<.001**
Active occupation ^c	122 (66.7%)	21 (60%)	47 (63.5%)	54 (73%)	2.36	.308
Relationship with the care receiver						
Spouse/Partner	75 (41.2%)	22 (62.9%)	38 (52.1%)	15 (20.3%)	29.48	<.001**
Adult child	81 (44.5%)	10 (28.6%)	26 (35.6%)	45 (60.8%)		
Other	26 (14.2%)	3 (8.6%)	9 (12.4%)	14 (18.9%)		
Cohabiting with the care receiver ^c	73 (40.3%)	20 (58.8%)	39 (53.4%)	14 (18.9%)	24.13	<.001**
Care receiver characteristics						
Age in years	78.4 ± 8.4	77.4 ± 7.8	77.7±8.5	79.6±8.6	2.95	.229
Male Sex	80 (44.4%)	16 (45.7%)	40 (54.8%)	24 (33.3%)	6.79	.034*
Dementia diagnosis						
No differential diagnosis	7 (3.8%)	1 (2.9%)	3 (4.1%)	3 (4.1%)	21.45	.091
Alzheimer's dementia	107 (58.8%)	17 (48.6%)	44 (60.3%)	46 (62.2%)		
Parkinson's dementia	2 (1.1%)			2 (2.7%)		
Vascular dementia	33 (18.1%)	10 (28.6%)	14 (19.2%)	9 (12.2%)		
Other forms of dementia	10 (5.5%)		3 (4.1%)	7 (9.5%)		
Unknown	19 (10.4%)	7 (20%)	6 (8.2%)	6 (8.1%)		
Time since most recent diagnosis	3.1±2.5	3.2±2.7	3.4±2.6	2.8±2.3	1.84	.399

Descriptive Statistics Regarding Sociodemographic Caregiver and Care Receiver Characteristics

Note. Values are presented as mean \pm SD or n (%). SoC, Sense of Competence categories.

^a Test values: *F* values for normally distributed continuous variables; Kruskal-Wallis tests χ^2 values for non-normally distributed continuous and ordinal variables; Pearson χ^2 values for categorical variables.

^b Level of education categorized, according to Verhage (1964), as low (1–4), medium (5), or high (6–7).

°Reflects the number and percentage of participants answering "yes" to this question.

p < 0.05, p < 0.01.

The only significant difference between levels of *SoC* regarding care receiver

characteristics was found with gender $\chi^2(2) = 6.790$, p = .034. Post hoc analysis of pairwise

comparisons using the z-test of two proportions with a Bonferroni correction was conducted. The

proportion of care receivers being male in the *moderate* and *high* SoC was significantly different, p < .05. The ratio between *low* (45.7%) and *moderate* (54.8%), as well as between *low* and *high* (33.3%) *SoC* was not significantly different, p > .05. These results indicate more male care receivers in group 2 than in 3 but not more than in 1. The mean age of care receivers was similar between the total and the *SoC* groups (total = 78.4±8.4, group 1 = 77.4±7.8, group 2 = 77.7±8.5, group 3 = 79.6±8.6). Most care receivers were diagnosed with Alzheimer's dementia (58.8% total, 48.6% in group 1, 60.3% in group 2, 62.2% in group 3) or Vascular dementia (18.1% total, 28.6% in group 1, 19.2% in group 2, 12.2% in group 3) and had received their most recent diagnosis several years ago (total = 3.1 ± 2.5 , group $1 = 3.2\pm2.7$, group $2 = 3.4\pm2.6$, group $3 = 2.8\pm2.3$). The groups did not differ on these demographic variables.

Investigating Sense of Competence with Anxiety and Depression

There was a statistically significant multivariate main effect of the *SoC* levels on the dependent variables, F(4, 360) = 14.639, p < .001; Pillai's Trace = .280. Partial $\eta^2 = .140$ indicated a large effect. Follow-up analysis on *Anxiety* and *Depression* showed homogeneity of variances, as assessed by Levene's test for equality of variances, p = .454 and p = .234, respectively. Univariate ANOVAs revealed that participants' *Anxiety* was affected by *SoC*, F(2, 180) = 32.056, p < .001. Partial $\eta^2 = .263$ indicated a large effect. *Depression* was also significantly affected by *SoC*, F(2, 180) = 17.400, p < .001. Partial $\eta^2 = .162$ indicated a large effect. Tukey-Kramer tests were conducted to investigate the hypotheses that higher *SoC* is predictive of a lower level of *Anxiety* and *Depression* and that lower *SoC* is predictive of a higher level of *Anxiety* and *Depression*. The level of statistical significance was adjusted for multiple comparisons with a Bonferroni correction, and the acceptance of statistical significance was set at p < .025. The *Anxiety* score decreased from the *low* (M = 10.71, SD = 0.59) to the *moderate* (M = 6.43, SD = 0.41) and *high* (M = 4.97, SD = 0.41) *SoC* group, in that order (see Table 1 and Figure

2). The analysis revealed that the mean decrease from *low* to *moderate* (-4.28, 95% CI [-5.98, -2.58], p < .001) as well as the decrease from *low* to *high* (-5.74, 95% CI [-7.44, -4.04], p < .001), were statistically significant. The *moderate* to *high* decrease was insignificant (-1.46, 95% CI [-2.82, -0.1], p = .033). The *Depression* score decreased from the *low* (M = 7.74, SD = 0.62) to the *moderate* (M = 5.07, SD = 0.43) and *high* (M = 3.32, SD = 0.43) *SoC* groups, in that order. Tukey-Kramer post hoc analysis revealed that the mean decrease from *low* to *moderate* (-2.68, 95% CI [-4.45, -0.9], p = .001), as well as the decrease from *moderate* to *high* (-1.74, 95% CI [-3.17, -0.32], p = .012), and *low* to *high* (-4.42, 95% CI [-6.20, -2.64], p < .001) was statistically significant. Participants with *low*, *moderate*, and *high SoC* showed higher *Anxiety* than *Depression* scores (see Table 2).

Overall, a *low SoC* was associated with higher *Anxiety* and *Depression* scores than *moderate and high SoC*, and *moderate SoC* was associated with higher *Anxiety* and *Depression* scores than *high SoC* but lower scores than *low SoC*. *High SoC* was associated with the lowest Anxiety and Depression scores.

Table 2

	Total (<i>n</i> = 183)	low SoC $(n = 35)$	moderate SoC $(n = 74)$	high SoC $(n = 74)$	Test value ^a	<i>p</i> -value
Questionnaires						
SSCQ (7-35)	26.2±5.4	17.7±3.2	25.3±2.1	31.2±1.6		
HADS – anxiety	6.7±4.1	10.7 ± 3.8	6.4±3.4	5.0 ± 3.5	32.06	<.001**
subscale (0-21)						
HADS – depression	4.9 ± 4.0	7.7 ± 4.2	5.1±3.8	3.3±3.2	17.40	<.001**
subscale (0-21)						

Statistics Regarding Questionnaire Data

Note. This table entails the means and standard deviations of the questionnaire data for all participants and the respective SoC categories. Values are presented as mean \pm SD. SSCQ, Short Sense of Competence Questionnaire; HADS, Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale.

^a Test values for outcomes: univariate ANOVAs with F values for normally distributed continuous variables.

p < 0.05, p < 0.01.

Figure 2

Mean Scores of Anxiety and Depression in the Three Levels of Sense of Competence



Groups of Sense of Competence

Note. Mean scores of the HADS Anxiety and Depression subscales are shown for the different levels of *Sense of Competence*. Error bars represent standard errors. *p < 0.025, ** p < 0.01.

Exploring Connections: Effects of Demographic Variables

Tukey-Kramer post hoc analyses of the caregivers' age differences revealed that the mean decrease in age from *low* to *high* (-6.64, 95% CI [-12.39, -0.89], p = .033) was statistically significant. The decrease from *low* to *moderate* (-3.16, 95% CI [-8.91, 2.59], p = .379) as well as from *moderate* to *high* (-3.47, 95% CI [-7.99, 1.04], p = .167) was not significant. Exploratory analysis revealed that caregiver age was correlated with *SoC* (r(179) = .25, p < .001) and *Depression* (r(179) = .26, p < .001), but not *Anxiety* (r(179) = .13, p = .083). These results indicate that caregiver age explained 6.25% of the variability in *SoC* and 6.76% in *Depression*.

Pairwise comparisons using Dunn's (1964) procedure were performed to investigate the difference in caregiver level of education within the *SoC* groups. A Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons was made with statistical significance accepted at the p < .017 level. The comparison revealed significant differences in the level of education between the *low* (mean rank

= 72.43) and *high* (mean rank = 102.09) (p = .003), but not between *moderate* (mean rank = 91.17) and *high* (p = .170) and *low* and *moderate* group (p = .059), indicating a higher prevalence of lower level of education in group 1 than in 3. An exploratory one-way ANOVA with a Bonferroni correction was conducted and revealed a significant variation of *SoC* across different levels of education, as indicated by a significant main effect of education, F(2, 180) = 4.855, p = .009. Partial $\eta^2 = .051$ indicates a small-sized effect. Depression (F(2, 180) = 3.311, p = .039), and Anxiety did not show this (F(2, 180) = 1.464, p = .234).

Dunn's pairwise comparison was also performed to investigate the reported hours of care per week. A Bonferroni correction for multiple comparisons was made with statistical significance accepted at the p < .017 level. The comparison revealed significant differences in hours of care per week between the *low* (mean rank = 119.26) and *high* (mean rank = 68.99) (p < .001) as well as the *moderate* (mean rank = 99.46) and high (p < .001) SoC groups, but not between the *low* and *moderate* group (p = .064), indicating more hours of care per week in group 1 and 2 than in 3. The visible distribution across the sample revealed striking floor and ceiling effects of the care hours per week (see Appendix A). Some participants likely answered the item with their 'active care hours' and others with their 'potential care hours.' This distinction was not specified in the questionnaire item ("Hoeveel uren per week besteedt u (gemiddeld) aan de zorg en ondersteuning voor uw persoon met dementia?" [Translation: "How many hours per week do you spend (on average) on the care and support of your person with dementia?"]). The potential discrepancy in interpretation made a valid interpretation problematic. Therefore, this study did not include further exploratory analysis of this variable and its possible correlation to SoC, Anxiety, and Depression.

This study also investigated the kind of relationship with the care receiver. Given the exploratory nature of the following analysis, proportions of the categories spouse/partner and

adult children were compared, leaving out other relationships. The difference was significant, $\gamma^2(2) = 21.963$, p < .001. Post hoc analysis involved pairwise comparisons using the z-test of two proportions with a Bonferroni correction. The proportion of caregivers being the spouse/partner of the care receiver in the low (68.8%) and moderate (60.0%) SoC group was significantly higher than in the high (25.0%) group, p < .05. The proportion of caregivers being the child of the care receiver in group 1 (31.2%) and 2 (40.0%) was lower than in group 3 (75.0%). The proportion between *low* and *moderate* SoC was not significantly different, p > .05. These results indicate fewer spouses/partners but more adult children in group 3 than in 1 and 2. Independent-sample ttests were run to determine if there were differences in SoC, Anxiety, and Depression, respectively, between partners/spouses and adult children. The mean difference in SoC between partners/spouses (23.95 ± 5.04) and adult children (27.75 ± 5.2) was statistically significant, with a mean difference of -3.8 (95% CI, -5.42 to -2.19), t(155) = -4.652, p < .001, d = -.74, indicating a medium-sized effect. The interpretation of Cohen's d effect size is based on Cohen's guidelines (small effect from 0.2 to 0.49, medium effect from 0.50 to 0.79, large effect \geq 0.8) (Cohen, 2013). Anxiety was higher in partners/spouses (7.62 ± 4.12) compared to adult children (6.2 ± 4.27) , with a significant difference of 1.4 (95% CI, 0.10 to 2.75), t(155) = 2.12, p = .018, d = .34, indicating a small effect size. *Depression* was higher in partners/spouses (6.57±4.09) compared to adult children (3.6 \pm 3.51), with a significant difference of 2.9 (95% CI, 1.76 to 4.16), t(155) =4.873, p < .001, d = .78, indicating a medium effect size.

Cohabiting with the care receiver also differed significantly between *SoC* groups, $\chi^2(2) = 24.130$, p < .001, with less cohabitation in the *high SoC* group than in *moderate* and *low* (58.8% in group 1, 53.4% in group 2, 18.9% in group 3). Pairwise comparisons using the z-test of two proportions with a Bonferroni correction revealed that the proportion of caregivers living with the care receiver in the *low* (58.8%) and *moderate* (53.4%) *SoC* group was significantly higher than

in the *high* (18.9%) *SoC* group, p < .05. The proportion between *low* and *moderate SoC* was not significantly different, p > .05. These results indicate less cohabiting in group 3 than in 1 and 2. Independent-sample t-tests were run to determine if there were differences in *SoC*, *Anxiety*, and *Depression* between cohabiting with the care receiver and not cohabiting. *SoC* was lower with cohabiting (23.93±4.94) compared to not (27.74±5.15), a significant difference of -3.91 (95% CI, -5.42 to -2.39), t(179) = -5.092, p < .001, d = -.77, indicating a medium-sized effect. *Anxiety* was higher when cohabiting (7.75±4.16) compared to not (5.92±3.88), with a significant difference of 1.84 (95% CI, 0.64 to 3.03), t(179) = 3.304, p = .003, d = .46, indicating a small effect size. *Depression* was also higher when cohabiting (6.68±3.99) compared to not (3.61±3.45), with a significant difference of 3.07 (95% CI, 1.97 to 4.17), t(179) = 5.516, p < .001, d = .84, indicating a large effect size.

Discussion

This study aimed to examine whether a higher *Sense of Competence* predicted lower *Depression* and *Anxiety* in caregivers of people with dementia. A higher *Sense of Competence* was associated with lower levels of *Depression* and *Anxiety*, while a lower *Sense of Competence* was linked to higher levels of *Depression* and *Anxiety*. A moderate *Sense of Competence* was linked to levels of *Depression* and *Anxiety* among those found connected to a lower and higher *Sense of Competence*. Moreover, the analysis indicated a significant decrease in *Anxiety* from *low* to *moderate* and *low* to *high* levels of competence. Only the decrease from *moderate* to *high* was not significant. Similarly, depression showed a significant decrease from *low* to *moderate*, *moderate* to *high*, and *low* to *high* levels of competence. The results of this study were as expected and in line with both confirmatory hypotheses. Additionally, this study found significant differences between the *Sense of Competence* groups regarding caregiver age, level of education, weekly care hours, relationship status, and cohabitation with the care receiver.

Exploratory analysis revealed that higher caregiver age, less education, spousal relationship status, and cohabitation with the care receiver were connected to a lower Sense of Competence.

The results align with previous research on competence and depression in informal caregivers of people with dementia. This present study shows that lower competence is associated with higher depressive symptoms and higher perceived competence is associated with lower depression, as indicated by van der Lee et al. (2014) and Ying et al. (2018). Similar evidence of this association has also been found when investigating depressive symptoms as the predictor of competence in caregivers (Lau & Cheng, 2017).

The results add to the inconsistent research on competence connected to anxiety (Cooper et al., 2007). Anxiety is common in informal caregivers (Mahoney et al., 2005) and related to CB and lower health (Cooper et al., 2007). Even though the total sample in this study showed anxiety levels below the clinically relevant cut-off scores, the low competence group showed a prevalence of clinically relevant anxiety scores. Additionally, significant differences in anxiety severity between competence levels were revealed. The SSCQ is short and measures satisfaction with the care recipient and one's own performance as a caregiver, as well as the consequences of caregiving for the caregiver's personal life (Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1999). However, it does not measure 'understanding' and knowledge of caregiving, which limits the comparison to other studies investigating caregiver competence. Differences in operationalization can indicate that different aspects of competence in caregivers might be related to anxiety and depression, possibly in distinct ways. A study by Proctor et al. (2002) shows that too little knowledge, limited to biomedical aspects rather than knowing how to care and cope with a person with dementia, is associated with higher anxiety, indicating the necessity of improving informal caregiver knowledge. Hepburn et al. (2001) found that a higher level of understanding and knowledge about dementia and what the individuals involved need is associated with less caregiver

depression and CB. The present study did not investigate the knowledge aspect of competence but rather the perceived satisfaction and influence of caregiving on the caregiver's life. Lower satisfaction with the care receiver and one's performance, as well as greater consequences to the caregiver's life, and therefore the sense of competence as measured with the SSCQ, are associated with higher anxiety and depression. This is in line with a study by Roff et al. (2004), showing that competence in the sense of feeling useful, appreciated, and satisfied with caregiving is associated with less anxiety. Previous research supports this finding and indicates that this association can go both ways: High satisfaction is associated with lower burden (Steadman et al., 2007) and lower burden predicts higher satisfaction in caregivers (De Labra et al., 2015). Less life satisfaction in caregivers has been investigated and found to be connected to caregiver depression but research regarding the association to anxiety has been relatively scarce (Cooper et al., 2007). This present study provides valuable insight into how high caregiver anxiety, in addition to depression, is connected to lower satisfaction as measured with the SSCQ.

The strengths of this study lie in its large sample size, multivariate approach, and contribution to understanding caregiver anxiety and depression. The utilization of a large sample size resulted in relatively high statistical power, enabling robust analysis and a high probability of detecting even potential small to medium effects. The multivariate approach of simultaneously analyzing the relationship of *SoC* to both *Anxiety* and *Depression* provides a more holistic indication of the importance of caregiver competence on caregiver well-being. The commonly measured concept of CB entails aspects of depression and anxiety (George & Gwyther, 1986; Liu et al., 2020), and this study was able to underline the importance of these psychological difficulties in informal caregivers of dementia patients concerning their perceived competence. Utilizing a one-way MANOVA heightened the statistical power in investigating the correlated variables of *Anxiety* and *Depression* compared to conducting separate univariate analyses for

each variable. Focused univariate follow-up analyses based on the significant result of the joint effect revealed the independent significance of both outcome variables as distinct aspects of the variable under study. Exploring the hypothesized pattern between the different levels of the independent variable provided a deeper understanding of the association discovered in the initial MANOVA result. Looking at *SoC* as the predictor of *Depression* and *Anxiety* means looking at a modifiable factor of informal dementia caregiving. The present study successfully replicated the association between higher SoC and lower levels of Depression and further expanded this relationship to include Anxiety. Investigating and improving the sense of competence in caregivers may be a way to improve feelings of anxiety and depression, improve the quality of life, and reduce CB in caregivers (Gilhooly et al., 2016).

Having discussed the strengths and contributions of this study to the field of dementia care, it is also necessary to address possible influences of other variables that should be considered when interpreting the findings. Several caregiver characteristics significantly differed between the three *SoC* levels, possibly influencing or moderating the investigated association between competence and anxiety, and depression.

More caregivers in the *low* and *moderate SoC* compared to the *high* group were spouses/partners than adult children of the care receiver, and the opposite was true for the *high SoC* group. Research suggests that there is no clear association between the kind of caregiver/care receiver relationship and anxiety (Cooper et al., 2007) but that spouses, in general, show higher rates of depression compared to adult children (Covinsky et al., 2003; Ying et al., 2018). These outcomes align with the results of the present study indicating a possible influence of relationship status on the association between competence and depression and anxiety. Further exploratory analysis of the total sample revealed that the relationship status was connected to caregivers' *SoC*, *Anxiety*, and *Depression*, with spouses having less *SoC* and higher *Depression* and *Anxiety* than adult children. Advanced age was also associated with decreased *SoC* and increased *Depression* but had no significant effect on *Anxiety*, possibly indicating an influence of relationship status beyond being merely an indicator for age. Research comparing spouses/partners and adult children in caregiving suggests differences in how they are affected by patient behavior (Pinquart & Sörensen, 2003), patient mood (Donaldson et al., 1998), and the amount of caregiving (Lawton et al., 1991). Not surprisingly, this present study found a small but significant difference in caregiver age between the *low* and *high SoC* groups, indicating that the *low* group is, on average several years older than the *high* group. Cooper et al. (2007) showed that caregiver age is associated with more depressive symptomatology. These results are in line with the exploratory analysis indicating a correlation between age and *Depression*. The additional negative correlation to *SoC* reveals a connection between not only SoC and the investigated outcome variables but also a possible influence of age on this association.

Another interesting finding is that more caregivers of the *low* and *moderate SoC* group cohabited with the care receiver compared to the *high* group. Exploratory analyses of the present study revealed lower *SoC* and higher *Anxiety* and *Depression* in caregivers living with the care receiver compared to those not cohabiting, indicating an influence of the living situation on the investigated variables. Previous research supports this connection of cohabitation to depression and CB. Research links cohabiting with the care receiver to greater rates of depression (Covinsky et al., 2003) and poorer psychological well-being (Brini et al., 2022). The link with anxiety is less clear (Cooper et al., 2007). A study by Mahoney et al. (2005) suggests that caregivers living with the care receiver are more likely to be anxious rather than depressed. Another found no association between anxiety and cohabiting (Brini et al., 2022). This present study supports that

cohabitation might negatively affect the *SoC* in informal caregivers and possibly *Depression* and *Anxiety*.

High perceived competence of informal caregivers enables them to be better equipped for the challenges of providing care on average for 35-63 hours per week (McDaid, 2001; Wimo et al., 2013). The studied population provided care on average for 32-84 hours per week. The *low* and *moderate SoC* groups provided significantly more hours of care than the *high SoC* group, which could influence the severity of depression and anxiety symptoms. The direction of this possible influence is not yet clear, as studies suggest contradictory effects on anxiety and depression. More hours of care per week are associated with less anxiety and, conversely, higher depression (Covinsky et al., 2003; Ying et al., 2018). A possible influence of the difference in hours on the outcome variables in this study cannot be excluded due to further exploratory analysis not being advisable. While some participants likely answered the item with their 'active care hours,' others might have indicated their 'potential care hours.' As both might impact the perceived burden and *SoC* differently, a clarified instruction would provide more transparent data. We further suggest including both types of care hours in future research to study the effects of active care hours in contrast to potential care hours.

The caregivers' education level was significantly different between the *low* and *high* levels of *SoC*, with more highly educated participants in the *high* group compared to the *low* group. A confounding effect of years of education on competence cannot be explicitly excluded because exploratory analyses revealed a significant variation of *SoC* across different levels of education with a small-sized effect. Higher caregiver satisfaction has been linked to a higher educational level (Lee et al., 2001). The present study using the SSCQ and therefore measuring satisfaction rather than knowledge of dementia supports this and reveals a possible small influence of this association on the relationship between competence and anxiety, and depression.

29

While this study provides valuable insights into the importance of competence in caregivers, it is important to recognize the limitations inherent in the research design and methodology. A limitation is the dichotomization of the continuous independent variable SoC, which resulted in uneven sample sizes, with the low group being considerably smaller than the moderate and high groups. Given the relatively large sample size and using the more robust measure of Pillai's trace instead of Wilk's Lambda, the impact on the MANOVA's power was limited. Future research should increase the sample size even more to mitigate the effect of variable group sizes or use non-parametric alternatives to replicate the investigated relationship of SoC with Anxiety and Depression. Utilizing matching or stratified sampling based on relevant demographic variables such as caregiver age poses alternative approaches. Two one-way MANOVA assumptions were violated, namely normality in two groups (moderate and high SoC) and linearity in one (low SoC) of three groups. The loss of power and limitation of generalizability of the results to populations where linearity is given was judged as acceptable in view of the relative robustness and low type I error rate of a one-way MANOVA to normality deviations with a large sample size (Finch, 2005; Stevens, 2012). Future research should address these violations nonetheless by replicating the results with alternative use of appropriate nonparametric procedures or data transformation.

This study aimed to investigate *SoC* as a possible modifiable caregiver characteristic in reducing *Depression* and *Anxiety* and provide evidence for further research to improve quality of life and reduce CB in caregivers (Gilhooly et al., 2016). Investigating possible covariables proposed in this study (namely caregiver age, hours of care, relationship to the care receiver, cohabitation, and level of education) in future research should yield important insight into the influential factors of competence and its effect on informal caregivers' well-being. Another imperative aspect of broadening the understanding of caregiver competence and its connection to

depression and anxiety is using additional competence measurements. Competence, as measured in this present study, was limited to perceived satisfaction and consequences of caregiving for the caregiver's personal life (Vernooij-Dassen et al., 1999). Possible additional factors are biomedical knowledge, such as information about the progression of different types of dementia, expertise regarding how to care for a person with dementia, and the ability to cope with caregiving (Le Deist & Winterton, 2005; Proctor et al., 2002).

Conclusion

In summary, this study demonstrates that a higher sense of competence is associated with less anxiety and depression in informal caregivers of a person with dementia, highlighting the importance of enhancing perceived competence as a potential direction for interventions to decrease caregiver anxiety and depression. By addressing these crucial aspects of caregiver wellbeing, better care outcomes for care receivers can be achieved (Gauthier et al., 2022; Olazarán et al., 2010). Supporting caregiver satisfaction and mitigating the negative impact of caregiving on their personal life are amendable factors in improving the lives of informal caregivers and their care receivers, presenting an opportunity to intervene in the early stages of dementia progression (Pot & Petrea, 2013). Clinicians and social services should prioritize early detection and enhancement of informal caregiver competence, as low competence levels pose a risk factor for anxiety and depression.

References

- Alary, F., Goldberg, J., & Joanette, Y. (2017). When the rising tide impacts the world:
 Addressing the global challenge of dementia. *Canadian Journal on Aging*, *36*(3), 415-418. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0714980817000265
- Allen, A. P., Buckley, M. M., Cryan, J. F., A, N. C., Dinan, T. G., Kearney, P. M., O'Caoimh, R., Calnan, M., Clarke, G., & Molloy, D. W. (2019). Informal caregiving for dementia patients: the contribution of patient characteristics and behaviours to caregiver burden. *Age and Ageing*, 49(1), 52-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/ageing/afz128</u>
- Ateş, C., Kaymaz, Ö., Kale, H. E., & Tekindal, M. A. (2019). Comparison of Test Statistics of Nonnormal and Unbalanced Samples for Multivariate Analysis of Variance in terms of Type-I Error Rates. *Computational and Mathematical Methods in Medicine*, 2019, 2173638. <u>https://doi.org/10.1155/2019/2173638</u>
- Birkenhäger-Gillesse, E. G., Kollen, B. J., Zuidema, S. U., & Achterberg, W. P. (2018). The
 "more at home with dementia" program: a randomized controlled study protocol to
 determine how caregiver training affects the well-being of patients and caregivers. *BMC Geriatrics*, 18(1), 252. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-018-0948-3
- Bondi, M. W., Edmonds, E. C., & Salmon, D. P. (2017). Alzheimer's Disease: Past, Present, and Future. *Journal of the International Neuropsychological Society*, 23(9-10), 818-831.
 https://doi.org/10.1017/S135561771700100X
- Bower, E. S., Wetherell, J. L., Mon, T., & Lenze, E. J. (2015). Treating Anxiety Disorders in Older Adults: Current Treatments and Future Directions. *Harvard Review of Psychiatry*, 23(5), 329-342. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/hrp.0000000000064</u>

- Branger, C., Enright, J., O'Connell, M. E., & Morgan, D. G. (2018). Variance in caregiver burden predicted by patient behaviors versus neuropsychological profile. *Applied Neuropsychology Adult*, 25(5), 441-447. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/23279095.2017.1323754</u>
- Brini, S., Hodkinson, A., Davies, A., Hirani, S., Gathercole, R., Howard, R., & Newman, S. P. (2022, 2022/04/03). In-home dementia caregiving is associated with greater psychological burden and poorer mental health than out-of-home caregiving: a cross-sectional study. *Aging & Mental Health*, 26(4), 709-715. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2021.1881758</u>
- Brookmeyer, R., Corrada, M. M., Curriero, F. C., & Kawas, C. (2002). Survival following a diagnosis of Alzheimer disease. *Archives of Neurology*, *59*(11), 1764-1767.

https://doi.org/10.1001/archneur.59.11.1764

- Cassano, P., & Fava, M. (2002). Depression and public health: An overview. *Journal of Psychosomatic Research*, 53(4), 849-857. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0022-3999(02)00304-5
- Chan, E.-Y., Glass, G., Chua, K. C., Ali, N., & Lim, W. S. (2018). Relationship between Mastery and Caregiving Competence in Protecting against Burden, Anxiety and Depression among Caregivers of Frail Older Adults. *Journal of Nutrition, Health and Aging, 22*(10), 1238-1245. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12603-018-1098-1</u>
- Chiao, C. Y., Wu, H. S., & Hsiao, C. Y. (2015). Caregiver burden for informal caregivers of patients with dementia: A systematic review. *International Nursing Review*, 62(3), 340-350. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/inr.12194</u>
- Choi, S. S. W., Budhathoki, C., & Gitlin, L. N. (2019). Impact of three dementia-related behaviors on caregiver depression: The role of rejection of care, aggression, and agitation. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *34*(7), 966-973. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5097

- Chong, T. W. H., Lautenschlager, N. T., Anstey, K. J., & Bryant, C. (2020). Anxiety disorders in late life-Why are we not more worried? *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 35(9), 955-961. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.5300</u>
- Cohen, J. (1988). *Statistical power analysis for the behavioral sciences* (2 ed.). Lawrence Erlbaum Associates. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9780203771587</u>

Cooper, C., Balamurali, T. B. S., & Livingston, G. (2007). A systematic review of the prevalence and covariates of anxiety in caregivers of people with dementia. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 19(2), 175-195. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610206004297</u>

- Covinsky, K. E., Newcomer, R., Fox, P., Wood, J., Sands, L., Dane, K., & Yaffe, K. (2003). Patient and caregiver characteristics associated with depression in caregivers of patients with dementia. *Journal of General Internal Medicine*, *18*(12), 1006-1014. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1525-1497.2003.30103.x
- De Labra, C., Millán-Calenti, J. C., Buján, A., Núñez-Naveira, L., Jensen, A. M., Peersen, M. C.,
 Mojs, E., Samborski, W., & Maseda, A. (2015). Predictors of caregiving satisfaction in
 informal caregivers of people with dementia. *Archives of Gerontology and Geriatrics*,
 60(3), 380-388.
- DeCoster, J., Gallucci, M., & Iselin, A.-M. (2011). Best Practices for Using Median Splits, Artificial Categorization, and their Continuous Alternatives. *Journal of Experimental Psychopathology*, 2, 197-209. <u>https://doi.org/10.5127/jep.008310</u>
- Donaldson, C., Tarrier, N., & Burns, A. (1998). Determinants of carer stress in Alzheimer's disease. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *13*(4), 248-256.
- Dunn, O. J. (1964). Multiple comparisons using rank sums. *Technometrics*, 6(3), 241-252. https://doi.org/10.2307/1266041

- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., & Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: A flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behavior Research Methods*, 39(2), 175-191. <u>https://doi.org/10.3758/BF03193146</u>
- Finch, H. (2005). Comparison of the Performance of Nonparametric and Parametric MANOVA Test Statistics when Assumptions Are Violated. *Methodology*, 1(1), 27-38. https://doi.org/10.1027/1614-1881.1.1.27
- Finch, H. W., & French, B. F. (2013). A Monte Carlo Comparison of Robust MANOVA Test Statistics. *Journal of Modern Applied Statistical Methods*, 12, 4. https://doi.org/10.22237/jmasm/1383278580
- Gauthier, S., Webster, C., Servaes, S., Morais, J. A., & Rosa-Neto, P. (2022). World Alzheimer Report 2022 - Life after diagnosis: Navigating treatment, care and support. <u>https://www.alzint.org/resource/world-alzheimer-report-2022/</u>
- George, L. K., & Gwyther, L. P. (1986). Caregiver well-being: a multidimensional examination of family caregivers of demented adults. *Gerontologist*, 26(3), 253-259. https://doi.org/10.1093/geront/26.3.253
- Gilhooly, K. J., Gilhooly, M. L. M., Sullivan, M. P., McIntyre, A., Wilson, L., Harding, E.,
 Woodbridge, R., & Crutch, S. (2016). A meta-review of stress, coping and interventions in dementia and dementia caregiving. *BMC Geriatrics*, *16*(1), 106.
 https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-016-0280-8

Grice, J. W., & Iwasaki, M. (2008). A Truly Multivariate Approach to MANOVA. *Applied Multivariate Research*, *12*(3), 199-226. <u>https://doi.org/10.22329/amr.v12i3.660</u>

Hasegawa, N., Hashimoto, M., Koyama, A., Ishikawa, T., Yatabe, Y., Honda, K., Yuuki, S., Araki, K., & Ikeda, M. (2014). Patient-related factors associated with depressive state in caregivers of patients with dementia at home. *Journal of the American Medical Directors Association, 15*(5), 371.e315-378. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jamda.2014.02.007</u>

- Hepburn, K. W., Tornatore, J., Center, B., & Ostwald, S. W. (2001). Dementia family caregiver training: affecting beliefs about caregiving and caregiver outcomes. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 49(4), 450-457. <u>https://doi.org/10.1046/j.1532-5415.2001.49090.x</u>
- Jung, S., Song, J. A., Kim, J., Cheon, H., & Kim, J. (2022). Family caregiver competence in managing behavioral and psychological symptoms of dementia: A concept synthesis. *Japan Journal of Nursing Science*, 19(2), e12462. https://doi.org/10.1111/jjns.12462
- Jutkowitz, E., Gaugler, J. E., Trivedi, A. N., Mitchell, L. L., & Gozalo, P. (2020). Family caregiving in the community up to 8-years after onset of dementia. *BMC Geriatrics*, 20(1), 216. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/s12877-020-01613-9</u>
- Jütten, L. H. (2019). Informal dementia caregiving: Positive aspects and exploring opportunities to improve the caregivers' lives (Publication Number 978-94-6380-358-8) [Doctoral dissertation, Tilburg University]. Proefschriftmaken.
- Jütten, L. H., Mark, R. E., Maria Janssen, B. W. J., Rietsema, J., Dröes, R. M., & Sitskoorn, M. M. (2017). Testing the effectivity of the mixed virtual reality training Into D'mentia for informal caregivers of people with dementia: protocol for a longitudinal, quasi-experimental study. *BMJ Open*, 7(8), e015702. <u>https://doi.org/10.1136/bmjopen-2016-015702</u>
- Jütten, L. H., Mark, R. E., & Sitskoorn, M. M. (2018). Can the Mixed Virtual Reality Simulator Into D'mentia Enhance Empathy and Understanding and Decrease Burden in Informal Dementia Caregivers? *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders Extra*, 8(3), 453-466. <u>https://doi.org/10.1159/000494660</u>

- Kaddour, L., & Kishita, N. (2020). Anxiety in Informal Dementia Carers: A Meta-Analysis of Prevalence. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 33(3), 161-172. https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988719868313
- Karlsson, S., Bleijlevens, M., Roe, B., Saks, K., Martin, M. S., Stephan, A., Suhonen, R.,
 Zabalegui, A., Hallberg, I. R., & Consortium, R. (2015). Dementia care in European countries, from the perspective of people with dementia and their caregivers. *Journal of Advanced Nursing*, *71*(6), 1405-1416. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/jan.12581</u>
- Kasper, J. D., Freedman, V. A., Spillman, B. C., & Wolff, J. L. (2015). The Disproportionate Impact Of Dementia On Family And Unpaid Caregiving To Older Adults. *Health Affairs*, 34(10), 1642-1649. <u>https://doi.org/10.1377/hlthaff.2015.0536</u>
- Lau, B. H.-P., & Cheng, C. (2017). Gratitude and coping among familial caregivers of persons with dementia. *Aging & Mental Health*, 21(4), 445-453. https://doi.org/10.1080/13607863.2015.1114588
- Lawton, M. P., Moss, M., Kleban, M. H., Glicksman, A., & Rovine, M. (1991). A Two-factor Model of Caregiving Appraisal and Psychological Well-Being. *Journal of Gerontology*, 46(4), P181-P189. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronj/46.4.P181
- Le Deist, F. D., & Winterton, J. (2005). What Is Competence? *Human Resource Development International*, 8(1), 27-46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/1367886042000338227</u>

Lee, H. S., Brennan, P. F., & Daly, B. J. (2001). Relationship of empathy to appraisal, depression, life satisfaction, and physical health in informal caregivers of older adults. *Research in Nursing & Health, 24*(1), 44-56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1098-240X(200102)24:13.0.CO;2-S</u>

Liu, S., Li, C., Shi, Z., Wang, X., Zhou, Y., Liu, S., Liu, J., Yu, T., & Ji, Y. (2017). Caregiver burden and prevalence of depression, anxiety and sleep disturbances in Alzheimer's disease caregivers in China. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, 26(9-10), 1291-1300. https://doi.org/10.1111/jocn.13601

- Liu, Z., Heffernan, C., & Tan, J. (2020). Caregiver burden: A concept analysis. *International Journal of Nursing Sciences*, 7(4), 438-445. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijnss.2020.07.012
- Mahoney, R., Regan, C., Katona, C., & Livingston, G. (2005). Anxiety and depression in family caregivers of people with Alzheimer disease: the LASER-AD study. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 13(9), 795-801.

https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajgp.13.9.795

Mausbach, B. T., Chattillion, E. A., Roepke, S. K., Patterson, T. L., & Grant, I. (2013). A comparison of psychosocial outcomes in elderly Alzheimer caregivers and noncaregivers.
 The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry, 21(1), 5-13.

https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jagp.2012.10.001

- McDaid, D. (2001). Estimating the costs of informal care for people with Alzheimer's disease: methodological and practical challenges. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, 16(4), 400-405. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.353</u>
- National Research Council. (2010). *The Role of Human Factors in Home Health Care: Workshop Summary*. The National Academies Press. <u>https://doi.org/doi:10.17226/12927</u>
- O'Rourke, N., Cappeliez, P., & Neufeld, E. (2007). Recurrent Depressive Symptomatology and Physical Health: A 10-Year Study of Informal Caregivers of Persons with Dementia. *The Canadian Journal of Psychiatry*, *52*, 434 - 441.

https://doi.org/10.1177/070674370705200705

Olazarán, J., Reisberg, B., Clare, L., Cruz, I., Peña-Casanova, J., Del Ser, T., Woods, B., Beck,
C., Auer, S., Lai, C., Spector, A., Fazio, S., Bond, J., Kivipelto, M., Brodaty, H., Rojo, J.
M., Collins, H., Teri, L., Mittelman, M., Orrell, M., Feldman, H. H., & Muñiz, R. (2010).

Nonpharmacological therapies in Alzheimer's disease: a systematic review of efficacy. *Dementia and Geriatric Cognitive Disorders, 30*(2), 161-178.

https://doi.org/10.1159/000316119

Ornstein, K., & Gaugler, J. E. (2012). The problem with "problem behaviors": a systematic review of the association between individual patient behavioral and psychological symptoms and caregiver depression and burden within the dementia patient-caregiver dyad. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 24(10), 1536-1552.

https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610212000737

Pan, Z., Park, C., Brietzke, E., Zuckerman, H., Rong, C., Mansur, R. B., Fus, D., Subramaniapillai, M., Lee, Y., & McIntyre, R. S. (2019). Cognitive impairment in major depressive disorder. *CNS Spectrums*, 24(1), 22-29.

https://doi.org/10.1017/S1092852918001207

- Pinquart, M., & Sörensen, S. (2003). Associations of Stressors and Uplifts of Caregiving With Caregiver Burden and Depressive Mood: A Meta-Analysis. *The Journals of Gerontology: Series B*, 58(2), P112-P128. https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/58.2.P112
- Pinquart, M., & Sörensen, S. (2006). Helping caregivers of persons with dementia: which interventions work and how large are their effects? *International Psychogeriatrics*, 18(4), 577-595. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610206003462</u>
- Pot, A. M., & Petrea, I. (2013). Improving Dementia Care Worldwide Ideas and advice on developing and implementing a National Dementia Plan. Bupa/ADI.
- Prince, M. J., Wimo, A., Guerchet, M. M., Ali, G. C., Wu, Y.-T., & Prina, M. (2015). World Alzheimer Report 2015 -The Global Impact of Dementia: An analysis of prevalence, incidence, cost and trends. Alzheimer's Disease International. https://www.alzint.org/resource/world-alzheimer-report-2015/

- Proctor, R., Martin, C., & Hewison, J. (2002). When a little knowledge is a dangerous thing: A study of carers' knowledge about dementia, preferred coping style and psychological distress. *International Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *17*, 1133-1139. https://doi.org/10.1002/gps.762
- Roff, L. L., Burgio, L. D., Gitlin, L., Nichols, L., Chaplin, W., & Hardin, J. M. (2004). Positive aspects of Alzheimer's caregiving: the role of race. *The Journals of Gerontology Series B: Psychological Sciences and Social Sciences, 59*(4), P185-190.
 https://doi.org/10.1093/geronb/59.4.p185
- Roser, M., Ortiz-Ospina, E., & Ritchie, H. (2013). *Life Expectancy*. Retrieved 29.05.2023 from <u>https://ourworldindata.org/life-expectancy</u>
- Schulz, R., & Martire, L. M. (2004). Family caregiving of persons with dementia: prevalence, health effects, and support strategies. *The American Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry*, *12*(3), 240-249. https://doi.org/10.1097/00019442-200405000-00002
- Seidel, D., & Thyrian, J. R. (2019). Burden of caring for people with dementia comparing family caregivers and professional caregivers. A descriptive study. *Journal of Multidisciplinary Healthcare*, 12, 655-663. https://doi.org/10.2147/JMDH.S209106
- Shah, H., Albanese, E., Duggan, C., Rudan, I., Langa, K. M., Carrillo, M. C., Chan, K. Y.,
 Joanette, Y., Prince, M., Rossor, M., Saxena, S., Snyder, H. M., Sperling, R., Varghese,
 M., Wang, H., Wortmann, M., & Dua, T. (2016). Research priorities to reduce the global
 burden of dementia by 2025. *The Lancet Neurology*, *15*(12), 1285-1294.
 https://doi.org/10.1016/s1474-4422(16)30235-6
- Spinhoven, P., Ormel, J., Sloekers, P. P., Kempen, G. I., Speckens, A. E., & Van Hemert, A. M. (1997). A validation study of the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) in

different groups of Dutch subjects. Psychological Medicine, 27(2), 363-370.

https://doi.org/10.1017/s0033291796004382

- Stansfeld, J., Crellin, N., Orrell, M., Wenborn, J., Charlesworth, G., & Vernooij-Dassen, M.
 (2019). Factors related to sense of competence in family caregivers of people living with dementia in the community: a narrative synthesis. *International Psychogeriatrics*, *31*(6), 799-813. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/S1041610218001394</u>
- Steadman, P. L., Tremont, G., & Davis, J. D. (2007). Premorbid relationship satisfaction and caregiver burden in dementia caregivers. *Journal of Geriatric Psychiatry and Neurology*, 20(2), 115-119. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0891988706298624</u>
- Stevens, J. P. (2012). *Applied Multivariate Statistics for the Social Sciences* (5th ed.). Taylor and Francis. <u>https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315814919</u>
- Takahashi, M., Tanaka, K., & Miyaoka, H. (2005). Depression and associated factors of informal caregivers versus professional caregivers of demented patients. *Psychiatry and Clinical Neurosciences*, 59(4), 473-480. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1440-1819.2005.01401.x</u>
- Van Beljouw, I., & Verhaak, P. (2010). Geschikte uitkomstmaten voor routinematige registratie door eerstelijnspsychologen. NIVEL Utrecht.
- van den Kieboom, R., Snaphaan, L., Mark, R., & Bongers, I. (2020). The Trajectory of Caregiver Burden and Risk Factors in Dementia Progression: A Systematic Review. *Journal of Alzheimer's Disease*, 77(3), 1107-1115. <u>https://doi.org/10.3233/jad-200647</u>
- van der Lee, J., Bakker, T. J., Duivenvoorden, H. J., & Dröes, R. M. (2014). Multivariate models of subjective caregiver burden in dementia: a systematic review. *Ageing Research Reviews*, 15, 76-93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.arr.2014.03.003</u>
- Vernooij-Dassen, M. J., Felling, A. J., Brummelkamp, E., Dauzenberg, M. G., van den Bos, G.A., & Grol, R. (1999). Assessment of caregiver's competence in dealing with the burden

of caregiving for a dementia patient: a Short Sense of Competence Questionnaire (SSCQ) suitable for clinical practice. *Journal of the American Geriatrics Society*, 47(2), 256-257. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1532-5415.1999.tb04588.x</u>

- Vernooij-Dassen, M. J. F. J., Persoon, J. M. G., & Felling, A. J. A. (1996). Predictors of sense of competence in caregivers of demented persons. *Social Science & Medicine*, 43(1), 41-49. https://doi.org/10.1016/0277-9536(95)00332-0
- Wimo, A., Jönsson, L., Bond, J., Prince, M., & Winblad, B. (2013). The worldwide economic impact of dementia 2010. *Alzheimer's & dementia: the journal of the Alzheimer's Association*, 9(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jalz.2012.11.006
- Ying, J., Yap, P., Gandhi, M., & Liew, T. M. (2018). Iterating a framework for the prevention of caregiver depression in dementia: a multi-method approach. *International Psychogeriatrics*, 30(8), 1119-1130. <u>https://doi.org/10.1017/s1041610217002629</u>



Appendix A

Histogram of the Hours of Care per Week of the Total Sample

Hours of care per week